69348-1

69348-1

NO. 69348-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CYNTHIA LUSEBRINK,

Appellant,

v.

KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT, a municipal corporation and a
subdivision of the State of Washington

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
CAUSE NO. 10-2-10370-8 KNT

REPLY BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tyler K. Firkins
Van Sicen, Stocks & Firkins
721 45th St NE
Auburn, WA 98002
253-859-8899
tfirkins@vansiclen.com

6/15/2010 10:10 AM
RECEIVED
COURT CLERK
COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON
V
K

ORIGINAL

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Cynthia Lusebrink was disabled as a result of an on-the-job injury while working for the Kent School District. Rather than provide accommodation, the District instead passively allowed her to try and remedy the situation on her own before ultimately firing her. The District continues to argue that its lack of affirmative conduct was sufficient under the law, even though it did nothing but allow Ms. Lusebrink to participate in the same job application process as every other potential job seeker.

The District's erroneous assertion was compounded by its conduct at trial. The District elicited inaccurate testimony in violation of orders in limine that Ms. Lusebrink had been offered, and had rejected, jobs in the District. Ms. Lusebrink's counsel moved for mistrial and was denied. The trial court provided an inadequate curative instruction, putting the jury in a position to infer that the District provided accommodation when it in fact did nothing.

When the case finally went to the jury, the jury was provided with an erroneous instruction that stated the District's passive conduct was sufficient. Perhaps unsurprisingly, the jury appears to have adopted the passive conduct outlined in the instruction to be affirmative. This Court should reverse and remand this case for a new trial with a directed finding on the District's liability.

II. REPLY STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The District failed to provide any accommodation to Ms. Lusebrink.

There was virtually no evidence offered by the District at trial to actually demonstrate that it took any affirmative steps to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink's disability before she was fired.

Ms. Lusebrink met with school officials on June 9, 2008 to discuss her disability, fulfilling her duty to inform her employer. *Id.* at 65. At the time of the meeting there was a vacant TOSA position into which the District could have reassigned Ms. Lusebrink. VRP July 23, 2012 at 56. It did not, instead opening the position to all candidates and forcing Ms. Lusebrink to engage in the application process on her own. VRP July 16, 2013 at 79-81. Nobody at the District contacted Ms. Lusebrink to offer any assistance in applying for the position. *Id.* at 89-91. Keith Klug had no idea that Ms. Lusebrink had even applied. VRP July 19, 2013 at 29.

In total, Ms. Lusebrink applied for four open positions for which she was qualified within the Kent School District, and that met her limitations. VRP July 16, 2013 at 87. She found each of these positions on her own, without any assistance from the District. *Id.* at 90. She was never offered a position. *Id.* at 89. The District instead requested that she resign on October 8, 2008, and when she refused, fired her on December 5, 2008. *Id.* at 82, 87.

There is no evidence that the District took any affirmative steps to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink's disability after meeting with her on June 9, 2008. Mr. Klug testified that he assigned some unknown individual from the District's Human Resources to assist Ms. Lusebrink with a job, but he could not remember who and did not know what they supposedly did. VRP July 23, 2013 at 43, 53. No District witness has so testified, nor is there other evidence that the District took affirmative steps to alert Ms. Lusebrink to open positions for which she was qualified. Instead, the District told Ms. Lusebrink to look for jobs herself. VRP July 23, 2012 at 43.

B. The District repeatedly violated orders in limine at trial.

At trial, evidence or testimony regarding settlement negotiations or regarding previously undisclosed accommodations was prohibited by order of the trial court. VRP July 10, 2013 at 91, 94-95; VRP July 11, 2013 at 165-66. Mr. Lind, general counsel for the District, testified that the District offered a librarian position to Ms. Lusebrink as an accommodation, at the same salary level she had as a teacher, but that she refused. VRP July 19, 2013 at 140. These statements violated the two orders in limine above, because the offer of the position was part of settlement negotiations long after Ms. Lusebrink had been fired, and had never before been disclosed as a claimed accommodation. *Id.* at 156-58. Furthermore, this statement is knowingly and indisputably false.

During negotiations, Mr. Lind offered the position to Ms. Lusebrink through her counsel. *Id.* Ms. Lusebrink's counsel accepted with conditions, in effect making a counter offer. *Id.* Ms. Lusebrink's counsel read into the record the email he sent to Mr. Lind:

Chuck, thank you for sending my client the various posts. My client is willing to accept the following as a full and final settlement of this claim. Your offer and acceptance should not be construed to be an actual accommodation, but, instead, constitute a settlement agreement between the parties. Cynthia will accept this position, library paraeducator job number such and such, external job posting location Crestwood Elementary School. She will continue to work in this position until such a time as a TOSA position becomes available, at which time she will be moved into that position.

She will also require the following – one, restoration of her seniority; two, the District must pay all legal fees; three, her salary must be reimbursed for the last 16 months, and she shall be paid her full teacher's salary until a teacher on special assignment becomes open, of which she will be placed in the position. Thank you in advance for your consideration.

Id. at 157. Mr. Lind responded that he did not accept the settlement offer. *Id.* It is important to also note that the position as offered did not restore Ms. Lusebrink to her original salary, but instead paid only \$14.24 per hour. *Id.* at 171. Mr. Lind's statement was purposely elicited by the District. *Id.* at 167. It falsely conveyed to the jury that the District had offered Ms. Lusebrink a job as an accommodation, but she refused.

Plaintiff moved for a mistrial, but was denied by the trial court. *Id.* at 156-58. The trial court attempted a curative instruction, but the instruction did not cure the prejudice. *Id.* at 188-89. The instruction still stated that there was an “offer” of a position by the District, and a “rejection” by Ms. Lusebrink. *Id.* This merely reinforced the problem of Mr. Lind’s inaccurate testimony.

Additionally during closing, the District’s counsel stated that the jury should “assume” that the District hired the “best person” for each position to which Ms. Lusebrink had applied. VRP July 24, 2013 at 138. The jury had, over the course of trial, been told by the District that Ms. Lusebrink had rejected an offered accommodation, which was untrue, and then reasonably lost out to the “best” person for each job. No jury could be reasonably expected to be unprejudiced by these statements. The compounding effect of these errors during trial should have resulted in a new trial. CP 1417-31. This court should reverse the trial court’s errors and remand for a new trial, with instruction to the trial court to enter a finding in favor of Ms. Lusebrink on the District’s liability.

III. ARGUMENT

Each of the errors discussed below stem from an erroneous interpretation or implementation of what type of acts are necessary to accommodate a disabled individual under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD). The District appears to misunderstand the thrust of

Plaintiff's argument: Ms. Lusebrink is not arguing that the District is obligated to hire her over other employee candidates for a specific position in an open employment process. Instead, *Curtis v. Sec. Bank*, 69 Wn.App. 12, 17, 847 P.2d 507 (1993) and *Davis v. Microsoft Corp.*, 109 Wn.App. 884, 892, 37 P.3d 333 (2002) stand for the proposition that an employer must take affirmative steps to accommodate a disabled employee, and that reasonable accommodation the District could have provided to Ms. Lusebrink included reassigning her into one of the positions that came open. Next, Jury Instruction 11 as given by the trial court failed to adequately describe affirmative conduct. The exact conduct described by the District has previously been held to be insufficient, and it was error for the trial court here to permit the District to argue that its passive conduct met its duty. Finally, because of the District's violation of the order limiting testimony about failed negotiations, including the assistant librarian position testified to by Mr. Lind, and the wholly inadequate curative instruction, a false inference arose that the District somehow affirmatively accommodated Ms. Lusebrink by offering her a position when it did no such thing. It was further error to deny Plaintiff's motion for a new trial in the face of these errors. This Court now has the opportunity to provide guidance in future suits by clarifying what constitutes an affirmative act satisfying an employer's duty to accommodate under the

WLAD. It is clear from the case law that some attempted resolution, beyond simply firing Ms. Lusebrink, should be required.

A. Reassignment is a reasonable accommodation available to the District.

The District did not engage in a single affirmative act to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink. An affirmative measure easily available to the District, but not used, was to reassign Ms. Lusebrink into one of the positions that came open. The District erroneously frames the argument here to whether or not it had a duty to hire Ms. Lusebrink to a specific position through the job application process. This ignores the District's intervening duties before this point. Once Ms. Lusebrink informed the District of her handicap, which she indisputably did, the District had an affirmative duty to reasonably accommodate that disability. *Doe v. Boeing Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 8, 13-18, 846 P.2d 531 (1993). Interestingly, the District itself points out that an "affirmative" duty means it had to actually do something "positive," but this is not especially helpful in describing its actual duty.¹ Sitting back and doing nothing while Ms. Lusebrink herself independently undertakes the same job application process as any other applicant does not fall within this definition. It is not an "affirmative" act to simply consider, but never offer, Ms.

¹ Confusingly, "positive" has at least eight common definitions, and in this context could be variously defined as "unconditioned," "contributing toward," or even "having a good effect," none of which are helpful in defining the District's duty for the jury here. See Mirriam-Webster online dictionary at <http://www.mirriam-webster.com>.

Lusebrink for jobs she found and applied to by herself. Further, as of the June 9, 2008 meeting, the District knew of an open position, not yet posted, to which it could have simply reassigned her. VRP July 23, 2012 at 56. It did not.

The District is correct that it was undisputed that Ms. Lusebrink was disabled from teaching special education, though this doesn't explain why the only position affirmatively suggested by the District for Ms. Lusebrink was a special education position. The District's duty to reassign extended beyond the limited scope it argues. Under the WAC 162-22-065, affirmative acts include "informing the employee of vacant positions and considering the employee for those positions for which the employee is qualified." (emphasis added.) As further clarified by *Clarke v. Shoreline School District No. 412*, 106 Wn.2d 102, 121, 720 P.3d 793 (1986), the employer must take "affirmative steps" to "help the handicapped employee fill the position." It is unreasonable to argue that the District, by holding a single informational meeting it was legally bound to hold and by permitting Ms. Lusebrink to continue to access the same job database she was permitted to access long before she was disabled, somehow took an affirmative step to actually help Ms. Lusebrink fill an open position.

The court in *Curtis v. Sec. Bank* held that reasonable accommodation by reassignment requires an employer to do at least three things: (1) perform

capabilities testing on open positions to determine if they are suitable for a particular disability, (2) encourage the employee to apply for the vacant positions she can perform, and (3) affirmatively assist her in applying for those positions. *Curtis v. Sec. Bank*, 69 Wash.App. at 17. This is because the employer that stands in the better position to know or efficiently determine whether vacant positions can accommodate an employee's disability, as the employer creates that position's responsibilities in the first place. *Id.* Further, "assign," as defined by Merriam-Webster, is "to appoint to a duty or post." It is not defined as permission to engage in a standard hiring process in exactly the same position as any other applicant. In fact, Mr. Klug testified that he wasn't even aware that Ms. Lusebrink had applied for any positions, and thus could not have helped her apply to any positions. VRP July 19, 2013 at 29.

Previously, King County attempted the same erroneous tactic now used here by the District. In *Dean v. Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle*, 104 Wn.2d 627, 639, 708 P.2d 393 (1985), King County Metro argued that it had reasonably accommodated Dean's disability even though it did not assist him in applying to open positions, but instead "left the initiative to him." The court disagreed. Similarly here, the District did absolutely nothing other than have a meeting. No jobs were proposed at the meeting. Subsequent to the meeting, the District took only one affirmative step—to fire the plaintiff. Passively waiting for the plaintiff to detect a job does not constitute an

affirmative measure or a lawful effort to accommodate the plaintiff's disability. This is particularly true where as here the District created the disability that it then refused to accommodate.

The District's witnesses at trial could have testified that they looked for and apprised Ms. Lusebrink of potential jobs. Not a single witness so testified. The only evidence offered by the District is Keith Klug's claim that he assigned an unidentified person in HR a task to do something. VRP July 23, 2012 at 43. But simply assigning an unidentified person an unidentified task is insufficient. The unidentified person must actually then do something. Even taking this statement in the light most favorable to the District, the supposedly-assigned HR person never made themselves known to Ms. Lusebrink, never communicated with her in any way, and certainly never provided any notice of open positions or application help to Ms. Lusebrink.

Up until the day Ms. Lusebrink was fired, the District failed entirely to take a single affirmative measure to find her a job. Employees have never been required to apply for jobs without first being informed by the employer that the job could accommodate the disability. *Davis*, 109 Wn.App. at 894. This is because it is the duty of an employer under WLAD to engage in the accommodation process, and would undermine the WLAD's purpose of eliminating unlawful discrimination by placing the disabled employee "in the same position as any other candidate." *Id.* Further, the District's theory that

simply “considering” a disabled employee for positions is not sufficient. Ms. Lusebrink could have applied for a hundred jobs, and the District could have chosen to “consider” her for each while always hiring someone else. This does not help eliminate unlawful discrimination in employment, and may actually facilitate it by providing the District with perpetual cover for its discrimination against Ms. Lusebrink or other disabled employees.

For example, in *Griffith v. Boise Cascade, Inc.*, 111 Wash.App. 436, 444, 45 P.3d 589, 593 (2002), the Court upheld a summary judgment order against the disabled employee because the employer identified the employee’s limitations, found a position that matched her restrictions, and ultimately offered her a position that matched her limitations. *Id.* at 444. The employer thus avoided liability by searching for and finding a job that met the employee’s limitations. Unlike *Griffith*, the District here did not search for an appropriate job, did not match the plaintiff’s limitations with potential openings, and certainly did not offer the plaintiff a job. On the occasions when the plaintiff applied for jobs based on her own search efforts, she was rejected. While Ms. Lusebrink was prohibited at trial from arguing that she was the most qualified candidate, there is no evidence that the District took any affirmative action other than to fire Ms. Lusebrink.

The District relies on *Sharpe v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 66 F.3d 1045 (9th Cir.1995) and *Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 138, 146 n.2,

94 P.3d 930 (2004) for the proposition that it did not need to reassign Ms. Lusebrink to an open position. This is incorrect. In *Sharpe*, the disabled employee was transferred as a result of cutbacks to a new position that was problematic for his disability. AT&T withheld Sharpe's transfer while it gathered sufficient information from Sharpe's doctor, and then helped him search for a new position by providing him with a secretary and regional personnel in addition to access to online postings. *Id.* at 1051. While Sharpe was considered but not hired for each of the three positions to which he applied, HR personnel contacted hiring managers to make sure Sharpe was fairly considered, and then offered him his old position back. *Id.* (emphasis added.) Thus, while *Sharpe* stands for the proposition that an employer does not have to select a disabled candidate over a better qualified candidate, the court also reaffirmed that an employer must take actual affirmative steps to inform an employee of job openings and then help her to apply for and move into openings. *Id.* Conversely here, the District did nothing of its own initiative other than to fire Ms. Lusebrink.

The District claims it solicited information from Ms. Lusebrink and her physician. It did not. As is apparent from Dr. Herner's letter of June 25, 2008, the District informed the doctor that Ms. Lusebrink could not teach in a general education classroom. No district witness acknowledges ever talking to Dr. Herner and asking her about what jobs Ms. Lusebrink could do—the

District, according to Dr. Herner, simply informed her what it would not allow Ms. Lusebrink to do. The District also claims it allowed Ms. Lusebrink access to its website. However, every citizen with access to the internet has the exact same access that the District claims it granted to her. In other words, the District passively allowed Ms. Lusebrink to search herself for a job—something she already had every right to do. Stated still a different way, the District did nothing.

In contrast, the employee in *Riehl v. Foodmaker* never confirmed with his employer that there was any nexus between his disability and the need for accommodation. *Riehl*, 152 Wn.2d at 146. Thus, the court held that it was not reasonable for the employer to provide accommodation unless medically necessary to do so. *Id.* at 147. It is undisputed in the present case, however, that Ms. Lusebrink has a disability medically requiring accommodation. The *Reihl* court reaffirms that employers are not required to place a disabled employee in a specific position, but nowhere does it remove the requirement that employers must affirmatively accommodate a disabled employee once that disability's requirements are made known to them.

As demonstrated above, the District failed to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink's disability. It is irrelevant whether she was, in fact, the most qualified candidate because the positions for which she applied were positions that she located on her own initiative. In an accommodation process, the first

step requires that the employer determine whether a job can accommodate a particular employee's disability. *Davis*, 109 Wn.App. at 884. Only then does an employee need to apply. *Id.* The District did not examine any positions to determine if they could fit Ms. Lusebrink's required accommodations. The District did not inform Ms. Lusebrink of any particular positions that could accommodate her disability. The District did not reassign Ms. Lusebrink to open positions as it could have. The District failed to take any affirmative measures to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink. The District instead asks this Court to shift the burden of complying with the WLAD from itself to Ms. Lusebrink. Under *Davis*, such minimization of the employer's role is error. *Id.*

The District's passive behavior up until the time Ms. Lusebrink was fired is precisely the conduct that has been previously held to be insufficient to constitute affirmative measures to assist the employee under both *Dean* and *Curtis*. It was error for the trial court to permit the District to argue that its lack of action was an accommodation. This court should reverse and remand for a new trial with a directed finding that the District is liable for failing to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink.

B. Ms. Lusebrink was prejudiced by Jury Instruction 11.

The trial court prejudiced Ms. Lusebrink by providing the jury with examples of passive conduct in its Instruction 11 that it defined as affirmative. A jury instruction is sufficient only when it allows a party to argue her theory

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