.

493489

Cause No. 69348-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CYNTHIA LUSEBRINK, Appellant,



vs.

KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT, a municipal corporation and a subdivision of the State of Washington, Respondent,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JERRY J. MOBERG, WSBA No. 5282 Attorneys for Respondent 451 Diamond Drive Ephrata, WA 98823 (509) 754 2356

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review

This court has often expressed its commitment to the sanctity of a jury verdict. Absent clear error in law this court cannot invade the province of the jury. A strong policy favors the finality of judgments on the merits. *Stanley v. Cole*, 157 Wn.App. 873, 887, 239 P.3d 611 (2010). The grant or denial of a motion for a new trial is reviewed on an abuse of discretion standard where the motion is not based on an allegation of legal error. *Edwards v. Le Duc*, 157 Wn.App. 455, 459, 238 P.3d 1187 (2010), *review denied*, 170 Wn.2d 1024, 249 P.3d 623 (2011).

The challenge of jury verdicts is reviewed under a sufficiency of the evidence standard. *Winbun v. Moore*, 143 Wn.2d 206, 213, 18 P.3d 576 (2001). So long as the facts articulated in the course of trial are based on substantial evidence and support the verdict, an appellate court cannot overturn the verdict. *Campbell v. ITE Imperial Corp.*, 107 Wn.2d 807, 817–18, 733 P.2d 969 (1987); *See also, Harrell v. Washington State ex rel. Dept. of Social Health Services*, 170 Wn.App. 386, 408-409, 285 P.3d 159, 171 (2012). "The record must contain a sufficient quantity of evidence to persuade a rational, fair-minded person of the truth of the premise in question." *Canron, Inc. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 82 Wn.App. 480, 486, 918 P.2d 937 (1996). A party challenging the sufficiency of the evidence

admits the truth of the opposing party's evidence and all inferences that can be reasonably drawn there from. *Holland v. Columbia Irr. Dist.*, 75 Wn.2d 302, 304, 450 P.2d 488 (1969). Such a challenge requires that the "evidence be interpreted most strongly against the moving party and in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion is made." *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 169 Wn.App. 588, 606, 283 P.3d 567, 577 (2012).

The court reviews a denial of a motion for a mistrial under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Hopson*, 113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989). A trial court should grant a mistrial only when the party has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial could ensure a fair trial. *Hopson*, 113 Wn.2d at 284, 778 P.2d 1014. The court must review the erroneous admission of evidence under ER 404(b) under the non-constitutional harmless error standard. *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 425, 269 P.3d 207 (2013). Under this standard, an error is harmless "unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." *Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d at 425, 269 P.3d 207. There is no error of law that prejudiced Ms. Lusebrink, and the verdict is supported by substantial evidence.

B. Reasonable Accommodation.

The District reasonably accommodated Ms. Lusebrink. "An employer has an obligation to reasonably accommodate a handicapped employee." *Dean v. Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle-Metro*, 104 Wn.2d 627, 632, 708 P.2d 393, 396 (1985). "Failure to accommodate constitutes discrimination under RCW 49.60.180." *Id.* The statute "is part of a comprehensive law by which the legislature declared it is an individual's civil right to be free from various types of discrimination and the legislature has directed liberal construction of the provisions of RCW 49.60 in order to accomplish its purpose." *Id.*

There is no question Ms. Lusebrink was disabled from her job as a special education teacher. Ms. Lusebrink, her doctors, and her union representative all agreed with this fact. Therefore, her only accommodation claim against the District is reassignment. "The Washington Human Rights Commission has promulgated WAC 162-22-[065] which offers guidance to employers in fulfilling their obligations to handicapped employees." *Dean*, 104 Wn.2d at 632-33, 708 P.2d at 396. Washington Administrative Code 162-22-065(2)(c) in relevant part states, "Possible examples of reasonable accommodation may include, but are not limited to, informing the employee of vacant positions and considering the employee for those positions for which the employee is qualified."

Accordingly, it is the duty of the employer to reasonably accommodate by informing an employee of job openings for which she might be qualified. Dean, 104 Wn.2d at 637-38, 708 P.2d at 399. It is correspondingly the duty of the employee to "cooperate with the employer in the hunt for other suitable work, by making the employer aware of [her] qualifications, by applying for all jobs which might fit [her] abilities and by accepting reasonably compensatory work [she] could perform." Dean, 104 Wn.2d at 638, 708 P.2d at 399; Molloy v. City of Bellevue, 71 Wn.App. 382, 391, 859 P.2d 613, 618 (1993). An employer has no duty to create a job for a handicapped employee or to hire her in preference to a more qualified employee." Dean, 104 Wn.2d at 634, 708 P.2d at 397 (emphasis added); Clarke v. Shoreline School District No. 412, King County, 106 Wn.2d 102, 121, 720 P.2d 793, 804 (1986). "There is no discrimination in denying a job to a handicapped person who is unqualified to perform it. Clarke, 106 Wn.2d at 121, 720 P.2d 793; Dean, 104 Wn.2d at 638, 708 P.2d at 399. "If a handicapped employee is qualified for a job within an employer's business, and an opening exists, the employer must take affirmative steps to help the handicapped employee fill the position. Clark, 106 Wn.2d at 121, 720 P.2d at 804; Dean, 104 Wn.2d at 639, 708 P.2d at 400.

To "make a prima facie case of handicap discrimination, an employee plaintiff must prove that he or she is handicapped, that he or she had the qualification required to fill vacant positions and that the employer failed to take affirmative measures to make known such job opportunities to the employee and to determine whether the employee was in fact qualified for those positions." *Dean*, 104 Wn.2d at 639, 708 P.2d at 399; *Clarke*, 106 Wn.2d at 120, 720 P.2d at 804. Clearly, *Clarke* and *Dean* require a school district to take *affirmative steps* to consider a disabled teacher for any open teaching/nonteaching positions. However, it is equally clear *a district is not required to choose a disabled teacher over a more qualified candidate for the same job*.

The parties met on June 9, 2008 to have an interactive conversation about Ms. Lusebrink's disability and restrictions and to discuss what accommodations could be provided. At the time of this meeting, Ms. Lusebrink provided medical information that suggested she could not return to special education, but she could potentially do a regular classroom assignment. The District was prepared to offer Ms. Lusebrink a different assignment in special education that they believed would be less dangerous than the one she had been in. However, due to the additional medical documentation, Ms. Lusebrink was never offered the special education IP position. During the meeting, Ms. Lusebrink made very clear to the District employees that she was afraid to return to the classroom at all. She became emotional and stated she was fearful that she would reinjure herself, potentially resulting in death. Because the medical information conflicted with Ms. Lusebrink's statements, the District asked her to get updated medical information to support her not returning to the classroom. The District received the June 25, 2008 letter from Dr. Herner, which specifically stated Ms. Lusebrink was disabled from teaching. The letter does not state that the condition was transitory or that she would at some point return to teaching. There is nothing equivocal about the opinion that she could no longer pursue a career in teaching.

Accordingly, the District informed Ms. Lusebrink that they would send her notice of open non-teaching positions, and she was encouraged to apply. The District made certain that she was on the email list for internal employees to receive notice of all open positions, and that she had access to an apply for positions online, which was a very simply process. Mr. Klug asked Ms. Lusebrink to inform him if she was interested in a position so that he could help facilitate her application process. She never did. The District assigned human resources personnel to assist Ms. Lusebrink in restoring her disability benefits, which gave her time to apply for open positions. Mr. Klug also asked HR to look out for positions that Ms. Lusebrink would be qualified for. The District considered Ms. Luesbrink for the three non-teaching positions she applied for. She was invited to participate in the interview process for the two TOSA positions, but the District selected more qualified candidates. Those TOSA positions required her to be in the special education classroom. Mr. Klug testified that those jobs are very rare and highly sought after and the candidates are highly qualified. She was considered for and tested for a payroll position. The District hired a more qualified candidate.

There is no requirement under WLAD that Ms. Luesbrink actually be placed in a position for which she applied. *Sharpe v. AT&T*, 66 F.3d 1045, 1051 (9th Cir. 1995) (court upheld dismissal of employee's lawsuit on summary judgment concluding no WLAD discrimination even though disabled employee requested reassignment and applied to three different jobs, but was not selected). *Dean* and *Clarke* make clear a school district does not have to give a disabled teacher preference over a more qualified candidate when considering reassignment. The Washington State Supreme Court continues to hold that there is no such duty under the WLAD. *See Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 138, 146 n. 2, 94 P.3d 930 (2004) (*"The employer does not have a duty to... give the employee preference over a more qualified employee"*) (emphasis added).

The WLAD "does not require an employer to offer the employee the precise accommodation he or she requests." *Doe v. Boeing, Co.* 121 Wn.2d 8, 20, 846 P.2d 531 (1993). In other words, the employer is not required to defend the reasonableness of an accommodation the employee wanted, but did not receive. *Sharpe*, 66 F.3d at 1050.

It is undisputed there were regular teaching jobs available that Ms. Lusebrink could have been reassigned to. Mr. Klug could have placed Ms. Lusebrink into one of those jobs, rather than have her apply and compete with other candidates. However, Ms. Lusebrink did not want one of those jobs. During the trial, Ms. Lusebrink contended that she should have been given an English class. However, Ms. Lusebrink did not apply for any teaching job. All of the post June 9, 2008 evidence supports the finding by the jury that Ms. Lusebrink did not want a regular classroom position. In addition, Mr. Klug specifically asked her whether she wanted something in food service, maintenance, or transportation, and she was not interested in those jobs. As a matter of law, the District was not required to provide the precise accommodation requested by Ms. Lusebrink, and by failing to apply for any regular teaching position, and by providing the District with personal and medical information that indicated clearly that she could not go back into the classroom, Ms. Lusebrink denied the district any opportunity to provide this as accommodation. Ms. Lusebrink had a corresponding duty to apply for those positions she felt she was qualified for. If she believed she qualified for a regular classroom position, she was required to apply for one.

It is undisputed that the District did provide Ms. Lusebrink notice of all job postings. It is undisputed that Ms. Lusebrink did apply for three open positions for which she was qualified. It is undisputed that Ms. Lusebrink was considered for those positions. Ms. Lusebrink had a duty to review open positions and to apply if she believed she was qualified. She did so initially, but stopped looking at potential jobs after a short period of time. The District met its obligation of reasonable accommodation under the law. Ms. Lusebrink does not really contend that the District did not comply with the requirements set forth in *Dean* and *Clarke.* Ms. Lusebrink's argument is that the law should be changed to actually require an employer to place a disabled employee into a vacant position for which he or she is qualified, without the requirement of applying and competing with other applicants and with no regard to who is the most qualified candidate. This is not the state of the law currently and this is not a reasonable requirement for employers.

C. Jury Instruction 11 Did Not Prejudice Ms. Lusebrink.

Ms. Lusebrink's entire argument with regard to the insufficiency of the Jury Instruction No. 11 is that the District failed to put Ms. Lusebrink into a different position. As set forth above, there is no legal requirement that an employer actually reassign an employee. Ms. Lusebrink admitted this in closing argument. "You heard Mr. Klug. I asked him, I said, is it a reasonable accommodation to place her into an open position for which she's qualified? And he said, yes, but it's not required. And I agree with him. It's not required that they place her in the two open TOSA positions for which she was qualified and for which she received an interview. They weren't required to do it, but certainly it was something they could have done." (July 24, 2012 VRP at 89.) Yet, here, Ms. Lusebrink argues that the District failed to accommodate, because they failed to reassign Ms. Lusebrink into an open position for which she was qualified or to permit Ms. Lusebrink to fill an open position. (Appeal Brief at 19-20.) This argument is not supported in the law and was rejected by the jury.

.

"On appeal, errors of law in jury instructions are reviewed *de novo*, and an instruction's erroneous statement of the applicable law is reversible error where it prejudices a party. *Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., Inc.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682, 695 (1995). Jury instructions are sufficient if they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and, when taken as a whole, properly inform the jury of the law to be applied. *Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hospital and Medical Center*, 123 Wn.2d 15, 36, 864 P.2d 921, 934 (1993); *Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 256-57, 814 P.2d 1160, 1168 (1991).

Jury Instruction No. 11 did not prevent Mr. Firkins from zealously advocating Ms. Lusebrink's theory of her case. Mr. Firkins made all the

same arguments about the District's duty to accommodate for the jury, as he has done for this Court. There is nothing misleading about Jury Instruction No. 11. The case law clearly supports the language stated in the instruction. "When an employee bases a claim on the employer's failure to reassign to a different position, the employee must prove that he or she was qualified to fill a vacant position, and that the employer failed to take affirmative measures to make such job opportunity known to the employee and to determine whether the employee was in fact qualified for such position. Dean, 104 Wn2d at 637-39, 708 P.2d 393; Snyder v. Medical Service Corp. of Eastern Wash., 98 Wn.App.315, 325, 988 P.2d 1023 (1999); Hill v. BCTI Income Fund I, 97 Wn.App. 657, 668, 986 P.2d 137 (1999); Pulcino v. Federal Express Corporation, 141 Wn.2d 629, 643-449 P.3d at 787, 795 (2000). This language comes straight out of the case law. There is no case that states an employer must place an individual into an empty position for which the employee is qualified as an accommodation. The WAC does not support Ms. Lusebrink's argument.

Ms. Lusebrink cites *Curtis* for the proposition that the District failed to reasonably accommodate her because it did not actually fill an open position with Ms. Lusebrink. *Curtis* states, "the employer must take affirmative steps to help the handicapped employee fill the position." *Curtis v. Security Bank of Washington*, 69 Wn.App. 12, 19, 847 P.2d 507

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